



REPORT OCEANOGRAPHY No. 61, 2017

Linking process rates with modelling data and ecosystem characteristics

Kari Eilola, Stina Lindqvist, Elin Almroth-Rosell, Moa Edman, Iréne Wåhlström, Marco Bartoli, Dorota Burska, Jacob Carstensen, Dana Hellemann, Susanna Hietanen, Stefan Hulth, Urszula Janas, Halina Kendzierska, Dorota Pryputniewicz-Flis, Maren Voss, Mindaugas Zilius



Front cover: View on Bornö institute for ocean and climate studies. Bornö Station is a marine research station on the island of Stora Bornö in Gullmar Fjord, Bohuslän, on the Swedish West Coast. The complex was built in 1902 by Gustaf Ekman and Otto Pettersson and has been called the cradle of Swedish marine research (<u>http://www.bornoinstitute.o.se</u>).

ISSN 0283-1112





Linking process rates with modelling data and ecosystem characteristics

Authors:

Kari Eilola¹, Stina Lindqvist², Elin Almroth-Rosell¹, Moa Edman¹, Iréne Wåhlström¹,Marco Bartoli³, Dorota Burska⁴, Jacob Carstensen⁵, Dana Hellemann⁶, Susanna Hietanen⁶, Stefan Hulth², Urszula Janas⁴, Halina Kendzierska⁴, Dorota Pryputniewicz-Flis⁴, Maren Voss⁷, Mindaugas Zilius³

¹Swedish Meteorological and Hydrological Institute, Norrköping, Sweden
²Department of Chemistry and Molecular Biology, University of Gothenburg, Gothenburg, Sweden
³Klaipeda University, Lithuania
⁴Institute of Oceanography, University of Gdansk, Poland
⁵Aarhus University, Denmark
⁶Department of Environmental Sciences, University of Helsinki, Helsinki, Finland
⁷Leibniz Institute for Baltic Sea Research Warnemünde, Germany

Corresponding author

Kari Eilola, Swedish Meteorological and Hydrological Institute, Sven Källfelts gata 15, SE-426 71 V Frölunda, Sweden. Tel: +46(0)31 7518963. E-mail: kari.eilola@smhi.se

Summary

This report is related to the BONUS project "Nutrient Cocktails in COAstal zones of the Baltic Sea" alias COCOA. The aim of BONUS COCOA is to investigate physical, biogeochemical and biological processes in a combined and coordinated fashion to improve the understanding of the interaction of these processes on the removal of nutrients along the land-sea interface. The report is especially related to BONUS COCOA WP 6 in which the main objective is extrapolation of results from the BONUS COCOA learning sites to coastal sites around the Baltic Sea in general. Specific objectives of this deliverable (D6.4) were to connect observed process rates with modelling data and ecosystem characteristics.

In the report we made statistical analyses of observations from BONUS COCOA study sites together with results from the Swedish Coastal zone Model (SCM). Eight structural variables (water depth, temperature, salinity, bottom water concentrations of oxygen, ammonium, nitrate and phosphate, as well as nitrogen content in sediment) were found common to both the experimentally determined and the model data sets. The observed process rate evaluated in this report was denitrification. In addition regressions were tested between observed denitrification rates and several structural variables (latitude, longitude, depth, light, temperature, salinity, grain class, porosity, loss of ignition, sediment organic carbon, total nitrogen content in the sediment, sediment carbon/nitrogen-ratio, sediment chlorphyll-a as well as bottom water concentrations of oxygen, ammonium, nitrate, and dissolved inorganic phosphorus and silicate) for pooled data from all learning sites.

The statistical results showed that experimentally determined multivariate data set from the shallow, illuminated stations was mainly found to be similar to the multivariate data set produced by the SCM model. Generally, no strong correlations of simple relations between observed denitrification and available structural variables were found for data collected from all the learning sites. We found some non-significant correlation between denitrification rates and bottom water dissolved inorganic phosphorous and dissolved silica but the reason behind the correlations is not clear.

We also developed and evaluated a theory to relate process rates to monitoring data and nutrient retention. The theoretical analysis included nutrient retention due to denitrification as well as burial of phosphorus and nitrogen. The theory of nutrient retention showed good correlations with model results. It was found that area-specific nitrogen and phosphorus retention capacity in a sub-basin depend much on mean water depth, water residence time, basin area and the mean nutrient concentrations in the active sediment layer and in the water column.

Keywords: Coastal zone, Eutrophication, Biogeochemistry, Nutrient retention.

Contents

1. Introduction	6
2. Methods	8
2.1 The model data	
2.2 The statistical approach	10
2.3 Theoretical modeling of nutrient retention	13
3. Results and discussion	17
3.1 Statistical analysis	17
Description of data	17
Data analysis	
3.2 Theory	
Importance of physical characteristics on nutrient retention	
Biogeochemical impact on nutrient retention	
Regional differences in nutrient retention	
Theory related to monitoring	
3.3 Other evaluations not shown	
3.4 The benthic primary production	
4. Conclusions	
5. Acknowledgement	
6. References	
7. Appendix	
Some model characteristics	

1. Introduction

The work in this report, Deliverable (D) 6.4 is related to work package (WP) 6 in the BONUS project "Nutrient Cocktails in COAstal zones of the Baltic Sea" alias COCOA. The aim within the BONUS COCOA is to investigate physical, biogeochemical and biological processes in a combined and coordinated fashion to improve the understanding of the interaction of these processes on the removal of nutrients along the land-sea interface. The results from the project will be used to estimate nutrient retention capacity in the coastal zone of the entire Baltic Sea coast. Retention studies from the project have been published e.g. by Almroth et al. (2016) who performed a modelling study of nutrient retention in the Stockholm archipelago and by Asmala et al. (2017) who compiled removal rates from coastal systems around the Baltic Sea and analyzed their spatial variation and regulating environmental factors.

In BONUS COCOA WP 6, the main objective is extrapolation of results from the learning sites to coastal sites around the Baltic Sea in general. Specific objectives of D6.4 are to connect observed process rates with modelling data and ecosystem characteristics. The aim is to combine information from observed process rates from WP2 to WP4 and from modelling efforts in WP5 to investigate if there are any statistical relations that link process rates with general characteristics obtained from analyses of monitoring data. Most measurements made available for this study have been performed in shallow areas including the illuminated bottoms. A few observed process rates (denitrification) were also available from some deeper non-illuminated locations, the Öre and Vistula estuaries as well as in the Tvärminne archipelago. No monitoring data from the study sites were available for the analysis at the time for the field observations. We therefore focused on the examination of relations between modeled state variables and modeled rates. The model data that have been used for the statistical analysis are extracted results from the Swedish Coastal zone Model (SCM) that cover the entire Swedish Coastal area with 653 sub-basins as described in the BONUS COCOA project D5.1 published as an oceanographic report at SMHI (Eilola et al. 2015). Almroth-Rosell et al. (2016) used the SCM model to discuss modelling of nutrient retention in the Stockholm archipelago.

Eight structural variables were found common to both the experimentally determined and the model data sets. The observed process rate evaluated in this report was denitrification. The statistical approach utilizes Principal Components Analysis (PCA) to investigate resemblance in characteristics and denitrification between observed data from the learning sites and modelled sub-basins. In addition regressions were tested between observed denitrification rates and several structural variables.

As a complement to the statistical efforts a theoretical analysis was evaluated against the results from the SCM model. The aim was to further investigate and describe the potential links between process rates and nutrient retention to ecosystem characteristics and monitoring data. The analysis included nutrient retention due to denitrification as well as burial of phosphorus (P) and nitrogen (N). Retention of nutrients supplied to a sub-basin can be temporal or permanent as discussed in more detail by Almroth-Rosell et al. (2016). Permanent retention removes the supplied nutrients permanently from the coupled benthic-pelagic biogeochemical cycling under the time scales considered. The temporal retention, i.e. changes in the storage of nutrients that are still active in the biogeochemical cycling during a studied period, can be negative or positive depending on changes in the pelagic and benthic inventory of nutrients. Burial is the only retention process that permanently removes P. For N, in addition to burial, benthic and pelagic denitrification is also defined as permanent retention. Nitrogen fixation adds N and can thereby influence the net N-removal. In the present study,

we focus on the permanent retention efficiency of nutrient supplies defined as the internal loss divided by the total supplies of N and P from land, air and surrounding seas to each water body. In addition, we also calculate the area-specific permanent retention efficiency.

2. Methods

2.1 The model data

SMHI has developed a model system called the Swedish Coastal zone Model (SCM) for water quality calculations in the coastal waters around Sweden. The SCM calculates the state of the water bodies along the entire Swedish coast which is divided according to the Swedish water districts into 5 different parts, and one water district is further divided in 4 parts, resulting in 8 evaluated areas (Fig. 1). The names and the number of subbasin in each area are; the Bothnian Bay 113 sub-basins, the Bothnian Sea 85 sub-basins, the northern Baltic Sea 167 sub-basins, the Östergötland coast 47 sub-basins, the Småland coast 55 sub-basins, the Gotland coast 21 sub-basins, the Skåne-Blekinge coast 52 sub-basins, and finally, the West coast has 113 sub-basins. The hydro-dynamical part of the SCM model calculates with high temporal resolution (10 minutes time step for hydrodynamics) changes in the physical characteristics, including e.g. diurnal variations, freshwater and nutrient supplies, water exchanges and transports of substances between the sub-basins. The biogeochemical model coupled to SCM calculates the changes (1 hour time step for the biogeochemistry) caused by biogeochemical sources and sinks in the sub-basins. The model is described in more detail in D5.1 (Eilola et al. 2015) and in the paper by Almroth-Rosell et al. (2016).



Figure 1. The eight different water districts of the SCM model domain.

In the present study, we used SCM data from the 5-year period 2010-2014 for the statistical analysis of model results in comparison with observed process rates. The model output is vertically integrated instantaneous values for each basin that are given at 7 days intervals, plus additional output at the beginning and end of each month. All modeled process rates are summarized during 24 hours. They are thus not representative for day or night time separately. Note also that even when observed data are from a specific depth range, the model

data are still vertically integrated over the entire depth of the water body. This affect the direct comparison with observations since modelled rates from the sediments are averages for the entire area of a sub-basin while the observations are made at specific points within sub-basins. For the evaluation of the theoretical results we used average SCM data for the period 1995-2014. Also these values were vertically integrated.

The different processes that affect retention have been calculated separately, as they are included in the biogeochemical model SCOBI (Almroth-Rosell et al. 2016). In the present report, we calculate permanent retention efficiency, R, from the SCM model as the internal loss divided by the total supplies of nitrogen and phosphorus from land, air and surrounding seas to each water body. In addition, we also calculate the area-specific permanent retention efficiency defined as R/A where A is the area of the sub-basin. The fraction that is retained is presented in % of the supplies. For N, the permanent internal loss is calculated as the sum of burial and net N_2 production (denitrification - N_2 -fixation).

The average rate of water renewal can be estimated from the average age of water (AvA) (Engquist et al. 2006). The water residence time is in the present report calculated as the twenty year mean of the vertical mean AvA in each sub-basin. The concept AvA that has been implemented to the SCM model is described in detail by Engquist et al. (2006). According to their description:

"This variable is reset to zero for water parcels outside the studied domain. The resulting variable (which represents the specific AvA time of the compartments of the actual subdivision of the domain) is increased one time-step unit for each time step the associated water parcel resides in the domain. In addition to aging, the water parcel is also being subjected to passive tracer advection and diffusion. In time, a quasi-steady state between aging (by remaining in the domain) and rejuvenation (by replacing aged water with new water of zero age) will occur."

2.2 The statistical approach

The main aim of the present statistical approach was to investigate whether characteristics of observational data gathered at the study sites of BONUS COCOA are represented within the ensemble of modelled sub-basins. At the time when this report is produced there is neither monitoring data nor model results available for the times when observations of process rates are performed within the BONUS COCOA project. This is due to the lack of present forcing conditions for the models since none of the models are run in near-real-time operational mode. On the other hand, a very extensive number of numerical experimental sub-basins were made available for the analysis from the SCM model, but these data do not include areas which were covered by the experimental data made available for the report. The potential to study relations between "modelled monitoring data" and process rates in the large amount of model results is, however, large. We will therefore investigate if the observed environmental characteristics at the study sites fall within the range of the SCM model results. If so, the statistical analysis will support the potential generality of the conclusions we can get from the theoretical study.

The data set available from experimental efforts was compared with output from the SCM model in uni- and multivariate analyses. From a larger data set made available from the SCM model eight structural variables were common to both the experimentally determined and the model data sets: water depth, temperature, salinity, bottom water concentrations of oxygen, ammonium, nitrate and phosphate, as well as N content in sediment. The process rate evaluated in this report was denitrification, which was experimentally determined by ¹⁵N-amendments. To investigate potential simple relations regression analyses (linear and quadratic) were performed with the experimental data set between observed denitrification rates and simultaneous observations of different structural variables (latitude, longitude, depth, light, temperature, salinity, grain class, porosity, loss of ignition (LOI), sediment organic carbon, total nitrogen content in the sediment, sediment carbon/nitrogen ratio (C/N-ratio), sediment chlorophyll *a* (Chl-a) as well as bottom water concentrations of oxygen (O₂), ammonium (NH₄), nitrate (NO₃), and dissolved inorganic phosphorus (DIP) and silicate (DSi) for pooled data from all learning sites.

PCAs were performed in Simca (v. 14.0, Umetrics AB, Sweden) to compare observed data with model data in terms of structural variables and denitrification. Where appropriate, variables were log transformed. The variables were mean centered and scaled to unit-variance. The models were diagnosed by R2 and Q2, measuring model fit (R2) and percent of the variation of the data that can be predicted by the model as calculated by cross validation (Q2) (Eriksson et al., 2006). Initial analyses included all eight structural variables common to both data sets. Subsequent analyses were run on a subset of structural variables.

Although there were missing data in the experimentally determined variables, five study sites were considered to include sufficient information to run the analyses; Curonian Lagoon, Roskilde Fjord, Puck Bay, Tvärminne and Vistula Estuary (Table 1). Stations included from the Curonian Lagoon were sampled during all seasons in 2014 and 2015. From Roskilde Fjord three stations sampled in autumn 2015 were included. Data from two Puck Bay stations were collected during three seasons (2015-2016). At the Tvärminne study site, two illuminated stations were sampled in spring, summer and autumn and two deeper, non-illuminated stations were sampled monthly from spring to autumn in 2015 and 2016. Vistula stations were sampled during three seasons in 2014-2016 (Table 1).

The shallower, illuminated stations and the deeper, non-illuminated stations were analyzed separately as initial analysis indicated different characteristics for observed data. The illuminated stations were evaluated together with model sub-basins with a maximum depth of

10 m, which included 129 sub-basins in total. The 24 and 33 m Tvärminne and Vistula Estuary stations were modelled with 121 sub-basins with a maximum depth of 23 to 34 m. PCA was run on all sub-basins within the depth range along the Swedish coast as well as on each of the five Swedish Water Districts (as defined by the County Administrative Boards) for a more detailed analysis.

Table 1. Name of the stations and their depth, light condition and time period for the field work for the observation data used in the PCA and for the correlation tests. The data set was not complete from all study sites and the missing variables are indicated in the table. Data from stations not used in the PCA, but used in the correlation tests are shown in the end of the table (Vistula Estuary and Öre Estuary Corr.tests).

Study site	Station	Depth	Illum-	Year	Seasons	Missing variables
•		(m)	inated			
Curonian	Litoral	1	Yes	2014-2015	All	Sal(partly), Denitr
Lagoon	Vidmares	2	Yes	2014-2015	All	"
	Nida	4	Yes	2014-2015	All	دد
Roskilde	Station 60	5	Yes	2015	Autumn	Temp, Sal, Ntot
Fjord	Zostera	2	Yes	2015	Autumn	"
	Sand	2	Yes	2015	Autumn	"
Puck Bay	Sand	2	Yes	2015, 2016	Spring/summer/	
					autumn	
	Sand	5	Yes	2015, 2016	Spring/summer/	
					autumn	
Tvärminne	Mud	2	Yes	2015, 2016	Spring/summer/	Sal,Denitr,
	a 1		• •	0015 0016	autumn	Ntot(partly)
	Sand	3	Yes	2015, 2016	Spring/summer/	
	Stan Strate	24	Na	2015 2016	autumn	Nited
	Storijarden	24	INO	2015, 2016	wontniy, spring-	INTOT
	;20	22	No	2015 2016	Monthly onring	"
	150	33	INO	2013, 2016	wonuny, spring-	
Victule	VE02	20	No	2015 2016	Winter/spring	Ntot NH4(partly)
v istuia Estuary	* LU2	20	110	2015, 2010	winter/spring	Denitr
Estuary	VE05	22	No	2014 2015	Summer/winter/	Ntot Denitr(nartly)
	1200		110	2016	spring	rttot, Denna(partif)
	VE10	22	No	2015	Winter	Ntot. Denitr
	VE18	24	No	2014. 2016	Summer/spring	Ntot, NH4(partly).
				,	~~~~~~ <i>PB</i>	Denitr(partly)
	VE49a	26	No	2014, 2016	Summer /spring	Ntot
	VE13	28	No	2014, 2015,	Summer/winter/	Ntot, Denitr(partly)
				2016	spring	
	VE09	29	No	2014, 2015,	Summer/winter/	Ntot
				2016	spring	
	VE06	34	No	2015, 2016	Winter/spring	Ntot, Denitr(partly)
Vistula	VE04	13	No	2016	Spring	
Estuary	VE03	16	No	2014	Summer	
Corr.tests	VE15	43	No	2014, 2016	Summer /spring	
	VE46	48	No	2014	Summer	
	VE07	51	N0	2016	Spring	
	VE38 VE42	68 04	NO No	2014, 2016	Summer/spring	
	VE45 TE0222	94 104	INO No	2014	Summer	
Öre	N3	104	No	2014	Summer	
Fstuary	N5	17	No	2015	Summer	
Corr tests	N34	17	No	2015	Summer	
011.10515	N6	18	No	2015	Spring	
	N7	19	No	2015	Summer/Spring	
	N8	19	No	2015	Spring	
	N10	21	No	2015	Summer/Spring	
	N11	24	No	2015	Summer	
	N14	37	No	2015	Summer/Spring	
	NB8	35	No	2015	Summer/Spring	

2.3 Theoretical modeling of nutrient retention

In order to further understand the links between process rates and nutrient retention to ecosystem characteristics we formulate a theoretical concept to support the analysis. The aim is to describe the most important relations between nutrient retention efficiency in a coastal area and the environmental conditions that potentially can be related e.g. by statistical methods to processes both observed in-situ and described by model results.



Figure 2. Schematic figure of the well-mixed basin and important biogeochemical processes. The freshwater nutrient concentrations are assumed to include also supplies from atmosphere and point sources in the freshwater nutrient supply. Internal losses are assumed mainly to take place at the sea floor.

For this we assume a well-mixed basin with a flat bottom with area (A) that is supplied with a bioactive tracer, with the freshwater from land and with inflowing water from the adjacent sea (Fig. 2). The bioactive tracer may be exported to the adjacent sea and also be removed due to internal losses (Wulff and Stigebrandt, 1989). Especially, we investigate the functioning of permanent internal losses (IL) and retention efficiency (R) in a case study where the bioactive tracer is a nutrient (nitrogen or phosphorus) also used for primary production of organic

matter in a productive layer at the surface of the sea. Production may also take place at the sea-floor if the productive layer extends down to the bottom of the sub-basin.



Figure 3. The distribution of mean depth (m) in the 653 sub-basins of the SCM model.

In quite many sub-basins of the SCM light may potentially reach the bottoms (Fig. 3). One should note that the production taking place at the seafloor on illuminated sediments is not explicitly described in the SCM model which the theory is evaluated against. This production is, however, at least partly compensated for by the pelagic production and sedimentation taking place in the shallow areas of the model. See further discussion in section 3.4.

The retention efficiency describes how large fraction of the supplied nutrients is removed within a sub-basin. Since we focus on shallow coastal areas we assume that the internal loss of the bioactive tracer mainly is due to permanent loss of nutrients in the sediment caused e.g. by burial and/or denitrification.

The basis for the analysis is the mass conservation equation where changes in the pools depend on nutrient supplies, exports and the internal losses. For simplicity we investigate the steady state conditions where changes in the nutrient pools are assumed small. In accordance with Wulff and Stigebrandt (1989) we first use the concept of apparent removal rate Vs. I.e., a fraction of the bioactive tracer mass in the water is removed with an apparent removal rate Vs caused by the internal losses (IL= Vs·C·A) where *C* is the mean nutrient concentration.

We use mass conservation (Eq.1) and assume a steady state to calculate the concentration C (Eq.2) and a definition of retention efficiency (Eq.3), defined as the ratio between internal loss and inflowing amount of the tracer (Almroth-Rosell et al. 2016), to derive (not shown) equation (Eq.4) that describes R as a function of mean depth (m), water residence time (days) and apparent removal rate (m day⁻¹).

$$V \cdot \frac{dC}{dt} = Q_0 \cdot C_0 + Q_2 \cdot C_2 - Q \cdot C - IL \tag{1}$$

Where V is the volume of water in the basin, dC/dt the change in concentration of the nutrient with time, Q_0 is the freshwater supply from land and C_0 is the concentration of the

nutrient in the inflowing freshwater (including here also the supplies from atmosphere and point sources), Q_2 is the inflowing water from an adjacent basin, C_2 the concentration of the nutrient in the inflowing water, Q is the outflowing water and C the mean concentration of the nutrient in the basin, thus, also in the outflowing water.

$$C = \frac{Q_0 \cdot C_0 + Q_2 \cdot C_2}{O + V_s \cdot A} \tag{2}$$

$$R \equiv \frac{IL}{Q_0 \cdot C_0 + Q_2 \cdot C_2} \tag{3}$$

$$R = \frac{1}{1 + \frac{H}{Vs \cdot \tau}} \tag{4}$$

H is the mean depth and τ is the water residence time defined by:

$$\tau = \frac{V}{Q} \tag{5}$$

Because the retention is dependent on the extension of the sub-basin area (Almroth-Rosell et al. 2016) we also calculate the area-specific permanent retention efficiency, where the internal loss is divided by the area of the sub basin. The area-specific retention efficiency is therefore calculated as R/A where A is the area of the actual sub basin. This corresponds to the internal loss per area unit which gives a better comparison between the different sites regardless of their spatial extension.

Since internal losses are assumed to take place mainly at the sea floor in these shallow areas the apparent removal rate is related to the benthic loss rate Blr (day⁻¹) in the sediment $IL = Vs \cdot C \cdot A = Blr \cdot C_{sed} \cdot A$. Thus, Vs is then given as a function of the mean concentrations in the sediment C_{sed} (mmol m⁻²) and in the water column C (mmol m⁻³) which relate to measurable quantities in monitoring programs (Eq.6).

$$Vs = Blr \cdot \frac{C_{sed}}{C} \tag{6}$$

Here the benthic loss rate is related to the deposition of bioactive tracer to the sediment Fc(H) and the benthic release rate (Brr) through Eq.7.

$$Blr = \frac{F_C(H)}{C_{sed} \cdot A} - Brr$$
⁽⁷⁾

Equation 7 is dependent on many local factors such as the supplies to the sub-basin, the productivity and mineralization in the basin which depend on the temperature, salinity oxygen and potentially other factors as well. The fact that the systems are dynamic and changing in time also will have some impact on Eq.7. The theoretical results are evaluated with model results from SCM (Table 2). See further description of model characteristics in Appendix.

Parame	eter	Unit
Н	Mean depth	m
V	Basin volume	m ³
А	Basin area	m^2
Ν	total pelagic N content	ton
Р	total pelagic P content	ton
Tau	IAVA residence time	days
NBT	total sediment N content	ton
PBT	total sediment P content	ton
R	retention efficiency	(%)

Table 2. The parameters extracted from SCM model results and used for the evaluation of theory. The total number of sub-basins is 653.

3. Results and discussion

3.1 Statistical analysis

Description of data

Measurements made available for this study have been performed both in shallow areas with illuminated bottoms (Curonian Lagoon, Roskilde Fjord, Puck Bay, Tvärminne) and in deeper non-illuminated locations (Tvärminne, Öre and Vistula estuaries). The data from illuminated bottoms have been analyzed and described in detail in the BONUS COCOA D3.1 and D3.3. Below we only briefly repeat the description of the data from study sites that is summarized e.g. in Table 1 of D3.3. The majority of learning sites were sandy while only two 5-m stations, in Curonian lagoon and Roskilde fjord, were muddy.

Bottom water oxygen concentrations were in general close to saturation and closely related to salinity, temperature and content of Chl-a in the sediment. For inorganic nutrients, lowest bottom-water concentrations were found in Tvärminne, while highest concentrations were observed in Curonian lagoon, Puck Bay and Roskilde Fjord.

A multivariate principal component analysis did not distinctly separate the learning sites. However, there seemed to be a progressive gradient so that stations were grouped in order of increasing organic content of the sediment. Gradients also appeared within the learning sites in order of increasing organic content of the sediment. In Curonian Lagoon, extraordinary high concentrations of nitrate and silicate were found in the bottom water.

Below we add descriptions of data from deeper stations as well as data extracted from the SCM model.

At the Tvärminne deep stations the LOI at the sandy station i30 (porosity 0.4) was lower, on average 0.9% (std 0.1), compared to that at the muddy station Storfjärden (porosity 0.94) where the LOI on average was 15 % (std 1.8). Thus, the variation of porosity was larger compared to the shallow stations in Tvärminne, which had a porosity of about 0.5 and 0.8. Both the deep stations were oxygenated with higher oxygen concentrations during spring compared to autumn. Denitrification rates were measured during summer and autumn and were low compared to the shallow stations in Roskilde Fjord and Puck Bay (discussed below). The ammonium, nitrate and phosphorus concentrations were higher ($[NH_4^+] < 2.6 \mu M$, $[NO_3^-] < 3.5 \mu M$, and $[DIP] < 1.19 \mu M$) at the deeper stations compared to the shallower ($[NH_4^+] < 1.0 \mu M$, $[NO_3^-] < 0.76 \mu M$, $[DIP] < 0.29 \mu M$) stations in Tvärminne (D3.1).

At the Vistula Estuary, 16 stations from land towards sea were visited. The depth ranged from 13 to 104 m (Table 1). Most of the stations were sandy with a low porosity (0.33-0.77), but the four deepest stations (VE46, VE38, VE43 and TF0233) were muddy with higher porosity (0.70-0.97). LOI were measured during spring and highest value was found at the deeper stations (17.49 % at station VE38). The oxygen concentrations were about 25% lower during summer compared to spring. The lowest concentrations of oxygen were found in summer at the two deepest stations ($[O_2]$ <75µM). Denitrification rates were about twice as high during summer compared to spring. Highest concentrations of ammonium were observed during summer, $[NH_4^+]$ <8.7 µM, with lowest concentrations in the two deepest stations ($[NH_4^+]$ <8.7 µM, with lowest concentrations in the two deepest stations ($[NH_4^+]$ <8.7 µM, with lowest concentrations in the two deepest stations during summer ($[NO_3^-]$ <3.2 µM) at all stations except the two deepest ones where $[NO_3^-]$ <7.8 µM). During spring the bottom water concentrations of nitrate varied between 2.5-7.8 µM. The average concentrations of phosphorus was in the range of

0.61-2.13 during spring and 0.46-1.49 during summer with the average values of 0.91 (std 0.46) and 0.98 (std 0.3), respectively.

At the Öre Estuary, 10 stations were visited. The depth ranged from 17m to 37m. Porosity varied from 0.4 to 0.9 and LOI varied between 0.3 % and 9.2 % with no clear depth dependence. Apart from porosity and LOI only grain size was available from Öre Estuary. Denitrification (only August) values varied in the range 0.10 and 0.17 mmol m⁻² d⁻¹.

Two large datasets with several variables were extracted from the SCM model for the statistical analysis even though only a few parameters were found comparable to the observational data set. There were 129 sub-basins with a maximum water depth of 10 m from which ~47000 data points were extracted. Around 44000 data points were extracted from the 121 sub-basins with a maximum water depth of 22-34 m. For the curious reader the statistical properties of all the model data from shallow basins are shown in Table 3 and table 4.

For comparison of processes related to the permanent removal of nutrients we also show similar statistics based on the data of denitrification rates made available from the study sites (Table 5). Burial rates for comparison were not available for the present report. The mean denitrification value of the SCM model (0.58 mmol m⁻² day⁻¹) and the median (0.17 mmol m⁻² day⁻¹) from shallow basins (Table 4) is in the range of the mean SANBALTS model results (0.07 - 0.84 mmol m⁻² day⁻¹) and earlier measurements (0.01 - 1.86 mmol m⁻² day⁻¹) summarized by Savchuk and Wulff (2009) in their Table 6, as well as in the range of the mean BALTSEM model results (0.09 - 0.77 mmol m⁻² day⁻¹) presented by Savchuk et al. (2012). The results were also in the range of measurements from other studies in the Bothnian Bay, Bothnian Sea, Gulf of Finland, and Baltic Proper where the range varied between 0 - 1.2 mmol m⁻² day⁻¹ (Deutsch et al., 2010, and references therein).

The median and mean of denitrification measurements within BONUS COCOA are higher than those of the SCM model. It seems from the evaluation that the observed denitrification rates in the shallow parts of the Roskilde Fjord and Puck Bay area (Table 5) are quite high when compared both to the SCM model results and also when compared with the other data sources. These high values also affect the mean value of all data in Table 5 which becomes significantly higher than the median value. The maximum extreme value of denitrification rate in the SCM model output used here was 74 mmol m⁻² day⁻¹ while the 99% percentile was 6.5 mmol m⁻² day⁻¹, which is within the rates observed in the shallow areas. The driving factors of the modelled extreme value is not known at present but will be investigated in future research.

Table 3. List of structural variables output from SCM model results (2010-2014) extracted for the statistical analysis in shallow basins. The mean, median and standard deviation (std) values for all sub-basins are shown. Besides the basin mean depth, for the statistical analysis temperature, salinity, oxygen, ammonium, nitrate, phosphate and NBT were used.

	Unit	mean	median	std
Secchi depth	m	5.1	5.1	1.6
IAVA residence time	days	11	4.3	25
Temperature	°C	8.2	6.7	7.3
Salinity	g kg ⁻¹	6.6	4.5	6.9
TN pelagic mean total concentration	µmol L ⁻¹	27	22	16
NO ₃ nitrate mean concentration	µmol L ⁻¹	5.8	3.1	10.6
NH4 ammonium mean concentration	µmol L ⁻¹	0.39	0.07	1.18
NBT sediment concentration	mmol m ⁻²	332	190	488
TP pelagic mean total concentration	µmol L ⁻¹	0.64	0.58	0.83
PO ₄ phosphate mean concentration	μmol L ⁻¹	0.24	0.15	0.75
PBT sediment concentration	mmol m ⁻²	86	45	120
Bottom water O ₂	µmol L ⁻¹	363	374	59

Table 4. List of output with nitrogen (N) and phosphorus (P) rates from SCM model results (2010-2014) extracted for the statistical analysis in shallow basins. The mean, median and standard deviation values for all sub-basins are shown. For the statistical analysis only sediment denitrification rate was used.

	Unit	mean	median	Std
N permanent burial	mmol m ⁻² day ⁻¹	0.048	0.012	0.477
N sediment denitrification	mmol m ⁻² day ⁻¹	0.58	0.17	1.94
N sediment remineralization	mmol m ⁻² day ⁻¹	1.07	0.33	2.96
N outflux from sediment to water	mmol m ⁻² day ⁻¹	0.48	0.17	1.08
N NO3 from water to sediment denitrification	mmol m ⁻² day ⁻¹	0.0025	0.0000	0.1295
N pelagic denitrification	mmol m ⁻³ day ⁻¹	0.0001	0.0000	0.0063
N2 fixation	mmol m ⁻³ day ⁻¹	0.020	0.000	0.151
N sedimentation particulate orgN	mmol m ⁻² day- ¹	1.08	0.52	2.28
N pelagic assimilation	mmol m ⁻³ day ⁻¹	0.36	0.12	0.85
N pelagic zooplankton excretion	mmol m ⁻³ day ⁻¹	0.0094	0.0012	0.0461
N pelagic decomposition of N-detritus	mmol m ⁻³ day ⁻¹	0.0050	0.0011	0.0180
P permanent burial	mmol m ⁻² day- ¹	0.0098	0.0037	0.0196
P sediment remineralization	mmol m ⁻² day ⁻¹	0.060	0.018	0.306
P outflux from sediment to water	mmol m ⁻² day ⁻¹	0.060	0.018	0.306
P sedimentation particulate orgP	mmol m ⁻² day- ¹	0.067	0.033	0.143
P pelagic assimiliation	mmol m ⁻³ day ⁻¹	0.023	0.008	0.053
P pelagic zooplankton excretion	mmol m ⁻³ day ⁻¹	0.00059	0.00008	0.00288
P pelagic decomposition of P-detritus	mmol m ⁻³ day ⁻¹	0.00031	0.00007	0.00112

Table 5. Mean, median and standard deviation of denitrification rates (mmol m⁻² day⁻¹) from
measurements in BONUS COCOA. All data include data from Roskile Fjord, Puck Bay, Öre
estuary, Vistula estuary, and Tvärminne, while shallow areas include data only from Roskilde
Fjord and Puck Bay.All dataShallow areas (< 10m)</th>

*	All data	Shallow areas (< 10m)
Mean	2.55	8.04
Median	0.26	5.94
Standard deviation	5.12	7.45

Data analysis

The experimentally determined multivariate data set from the shallow, illuminated stations was found to be similar to the multivariate data set produced by the SCM model (Fig. 4a), although some of the variation in the Curonian Lagoon was not matched by model data. In general, observed data was mostly similar to sub-basins in the three northern water districts (the Bothnian Bay, the Bothnian Sea and the Northern Baltic Sea). Depth, salinity and phosphate concentrations had low R2 and Q2 for individual variables which indicated variation not well explained by the model and that these variables were not well predicted by the model (Fig. 4a, bottom panel). A PCA model without these variables produced better fit and predictability (R2=0.94 Q2=0.75 compared to R2=0.64 Q2=0.43) (Fig. 4b). Without e.g. the salinity gradient, Puck Bay and Tvärminne were found in the middle of the data set (Fig. 4b). The position of Roskilde Fjord in relation to the model data can probably be attributed to high denitrification rates while high oxygen and nitrate concentrations as well as high Ntot content made some of the Curonian Lagoon measurements outliers compared to the model data.

A preliminary analysis on individual water districts (not shown) revealed possible model subbasins with characteristics matching those observed at the study sites. For instance, stations in the Curonian Lagoon appeared to have similar characteristics as Svensbyfjärden (Bothnian Bay), Avan (Bothnian Sea), and Sjösafjärden, Mellanfjärden and Stadsfjärden in the Northern Baltic Sea, while they were not similar to any sub-basins in the Southern Baltic Sea and on the West Coast. Only autumn values were included for stations in Roskilde Fjord and they therefore lacked seasonal variability. Sub-basins found to be similar were for example Tavlefjorden in the Bothnian Bay, Avan in the Bothnian Sea, and Sjösafjord, Mellanfjärden and Stadsfjärden in the Northern Baltic Sea. As with Curonian Lagoon, these Roskilde fjord stations were not found to be similar to sub-basins in the Southern Baltic Sea and on the West Coast. The shallower illuminated stations at the Tyärminne study site shared characteristics with sub-basins from all water districts. These included Taylefjorden (Bothnian Bay), Inre fjord (Bothnian Sea), Sjösafjärden (Northern Baltic Sea), Borholmsfjorden (Southern Baltic Sea), and Inre Idefjorden (West Coast). Puck Bay stations were similar to Möröfjorden (Bothnian Bay), Inre fjord (Bothnian Sea), Sjösafjärden (Northern Baltic Sea), Borholmsfjorden (Southern Baltic Sea) but not with sub-basins on the West Coast.

Hence, the results showed that there are indeed several sub-basins within the SCM model results that seem to have characteristics similar to the BONUS COCOA study sites. The rates from these sites may potentially be studied more in detail in following work comparing process rates. While observed data from Vistula Estuary was found to be similar to model data, other observed data from deeper depths at the Tvärminne site did in general not match well the model data from sub-basins within the same depth range (Fig. 5a and 5b). This station was partly separated from the model data set due to a combined impact from bottom water concentrations of oxygen, nitrate and ammonium. Results from analysis on individual

water districts, indicated that Tvärminne was most similar to two bays in the Bothnian Bay district; Yttre Lulefjärden and Inrefjärden. One possible explanation for the lack of match with deeper depths at Tvärminne is caused by the vertically integrated values that were made available from the SCM model. Hence, it is possible that these data are not representative for the characteristics of bottom water in these deeper stratified areas as also mentioned in connection with Fig. 8 below.



Figure 4a. Score- (top panel) and loading plot (bottom left panel) of the first two principal components from PCA analysis of model sub-basins with water depths<10 m along the Swedish coast together with observed data from four shallow study sites (R2=0.64 and Q2=0.43). Eight structural variables and denitrification rates were included in the PCA model. Also included are cumulative explained fraction of the variation of the variables (R2, grey bars) and cumulative predicted fraction of the variation of the variables (Q2, white bars; bottom left panel).



Figure 4b. Score- (top panel) and loading plot (bottom left panel) of the first two principal components from PCA analysis of model sub-basins with water depths<10 m along the Swedish coast together with observed data from four shallow study sites (R2=0.94 and Q2=0.75). Five structural variables and denitrification rates were included in the PCA model. Also included are cumulative explained fraction of the variation of the variables (R2, grey bars) and cumulative predicted fraction of the variation of the variables (Q2, white bars); bottom left panel).



Figure 5a. Score- (top panel) and loading plot (bottom left panel) of the first two principal components from PCA analysis of model sub-basins with maximum depths within 22-34 m along the Swedish coast as well as observed data from Tvärminne and Vistula Estuary with maximum depths 22-34 m (R2=0.57 and Q2=0.27). Eight structural variables and denitrification rates were included in the PCA model. Also included are cumulative explained fraction of the variables (R2, grey bars) and cumulative predicted fraction of the variables (Q2, white bars; bottom left panel).



Figure 5b. Score- (top panel) and loading plot (bottom left panel) of the first two principal components from PCA analysis of model sub-basins with maximum depths within 22-34 m along the Swedish coast as well as observed data from Tvärminne and Vistula Estuary with maximum depths 22-34 m (R2=0.81 and Q2=0.51). Five structural variables and denitrification rates were included in the PCA model. Also included are cumulative explained fraction of the variation of the variables (R2, grey bars) and cumulative predicted fraction of the variables (Q2, white bars; bottom left panel).

Generally, no strong correlations of simple relations between observed denitrification and structural variables (latitude, longitude, depth, light, temperature, salinity, grain class, porosity, loss of ignition, sediment organic carbon, total nitrogen content in the sediment, sediment C/N-ratio, sediment Chl-a as well as bottom water concentrations of oxygen, ammonium, nitrate, and dissolved inorganic phosphorus and silicate) were found for data collected from all the learning sites. This might be explained by the low numbers of observations but also from the variation between learning sites as well as variations within learning sites. We found some non-significant correlation between denitrification rates and bottom water DIP and DSi (Fig. 6) but the reason behind the correlations is not clear. We may, however, note that the correlations for DIP and DSi are mainly caused by three data points with relatively high bottom water concentrations, which were observed in the Roskilde Fjord at 5 and 2 m depth. Potentially, this might be due to the activity of burrowing fauna that enhances nutrient release but further analysis of this question is left for future studies.



Figure 6. The denitrification rate vs. bottom water DIP (left) and DSI (right) (blue diamonds). The linear regression is shown by the black line and the quadratic regression by red line, respectively.

A correlation study based on model data from the shallow areas of the SCM model, however, show a significant correlation e.g. between the logarithm of denitrification rates and temperature (Fig. 7). There is still some spread in the data in Fig. 8 indicating that other factors also influence the results. As discussed by Deutsch et al. (2010) it has been shown that benthic denitrification can be controlled by temperature, nitrate availability, and supply of organic carbon, but, commonly a combination of various parameters is responsible for controlling the rate of denitrification in sediments. E.g. Piñna-Ochoa and Álvarez-Cobelas

(2006) identified oxygen concentration, nitrate concentration, pore water dissolved organic carbon concentration, total phosphorus concentration, light regime, and plant occurrence as important factors.

The temperature dependence of denitrification is in the model explained by the formulations that drive denitrification in the model. Denitrification (DENITB) in the model formulations (Eq.8-Eq.11) is expressed as a function of oxygen (O_2) and temperature (T) and the nitrogen content in the sediment (NBT). The temperature dependence of denitrification is due to the exponential temperature dependence of organic matter mineralization (DCOMP). In the shallow areas the oxygen dependence becomes mainly an issue of temperature dependence, since the water is well mixed and saturated by air-sea exchange according to the water temperature (and slightly according to salinity as well) (e.g. Eilola et al. 2009). Further multiple factor analysis was discussed that may in combination with theoretical considerations potentially increase the correlations. This work is, however, out of the time frame of this report and will be left for the future outlook.

In the meantime we present a copy of the relations for the sediment nitrogen content (mmol m^{-2}), oxygen (ml L^{-1}) and temperature (°C) dependent sediment denitrification (implicitly nitrification-coupled) (DENITB_{NBT}; mmol m⁻² day⁻¹) that are used in the present version of the SCM model (Eq.8). The temperature dependent benthic decomposition of organic matter (DCOMP; Eq.9) is partly carried out by denitrifying bacteria also when oxygen is abundant in the overlying water. The denitrified fraction increases for declining oxygen concentrations according to Eq.10 and Eq.11. There is in addition potential denitrification driven by benthic processes in the SCM model under anoxic conditions when diffusion of nitrate from overlying water may support denitrification processes taking place in the sediment. Benthic decomposition of organic matter under anoxic conditions is first carried out by denitrifying bacteria until nitrate in the overlying water is depleted, and then by the sulfate reducing bacteria. For further details the reader is referred to Eilola et al. (2009). This process is however not significant in the oxygenated waters of the modelled shallow bays. The carbon content in the sediment is in the SCM model related to NBT according to a constant molecular relation (the Redfield ratio). Thus, anoxic (denitrification and sulfate reduction) and oxic decomposition of organic carbon is in the model described by the decomposition of organic nitrogen. This simplification might cause deviations between model and observations in regions where the bioactive organic carbon to nitrogen ratio deviates much from the Redfield ratio. Addition of carbon to the model is needed in order to explore this issue further.

$$DENITB_{NBT} = (1 - \delta_{NH4}) \cdot (1 - \delta_{NO3}) \cdot DCOMP_{NBT}$$
(Eq.8)
$$DCOMP_{NBT} = 0.0005 \cdot EXP(0.15 \cdot T) \cdot NBT$$
(Eq.9)

$$\delta_{_{NH4}} = \left[1 + \left(\frac{O_2 + |O_2| + 0.07}{|O_2| + 0.07}\right)^{8.0}\right]^{-1}$$
(Eq.10)

$$\delta_{NO3} = \frac{0.5}{1 + EXP(5.0 - 1.29 \cdot O_2)} - 0.004 \text{ if } O_2 > 0, \ else \ \delta_{NO3} = 0 \tag{Eq.11}$$

When comparing the available observations of denitrification and temperature from the BONUS COCOA study sites to the model data sets, most of these values are found within the possible outcomes of the SCM model (Fig. 7). It seems the observations from Puck Bay shallow areas are found within the higher range of temperature-specific denitrification rates compared to the SCM model data. This finding is in correspondence with the discussion in the beginning of this section about discrepancies between mean and median values calculated from model and observations for the shallow areas. Data from the deeper parts of Tvärminne and Vistula study sites, on the other hand, show some observations that are outside of the model results with lower temperature-specific denitrification rates. A likely explanation for the lack of match with observations from deeper depths is that the vertically integrated SCM data are not totally representative for the characteristics of bottom water in these deeper stratified areas. One reason is e.g. that the integrated model data include denitrification taking place on shallow areas of the deep basins of the SCM model as well, while the observations are taken at the bottoms of the deep study sites.



Figure 7. Denitrification plotted on a logarithmic scale versus temperature from the SCM model (black dots) for shallow sub-basins (<10m depth; upper panel) and deeper sub-basins (22-34 m depth; lower panel). Regression analysis was performed on the model data sets (red line). The regression of the shallow data set was significant (p=0.000), the coefficient of determination (R2) was 0.65 and the equation y=0.066x-1.266. Superimposed on the graph are also experimentally determined data from the shallow parts of the Puck Bay study site (filled green circles). The regression of the deeper basins data set was significant (p=0.000), the coefficient of determination (R2) was 0.65 and the equation was y=0.062x-1.053. Superimposed on the graph are also experimentally determined data from the deeper Tvärminne (filled blue circles) and Vistula (filled purple circles) study sites.

3.2 Theory

Importance of physical characteristics on nutrient retention

The apparent removal rate (V_s) indicates how efficiently the nutrients are removed by biological, chemical and geological processes from the water column in a specific sub-basin. The retention of nutrients is also affected by the physical conditions described by the mean depth and the water circulation (residence time) in Eq.4. We used the theoretical model to describe long term (20 years) mean conditions and results from the SCM model. A correlation study of Eq.4 for area specific permanent retention efficiency (R/A) calculated for all subbasins of the SCM model (Fig. 8) show that a best 1:1 fit between theory and results from the dynamical SCM model is obtained when Vs for nitrogen and phosphorus are about 4.96 m yr⁻¹ and 6.45 m yr⁻¹, respectively. The correlation coefficient ($r^2=0.80$) for N is higher than for P ($r^2=0.61$). Since the values of Vs are constant and the correlations are still relatively good the results indicate that a large fraction of the variability in nutrient retention is caused by variations in the mean depth, basin area and the water residence time. Actually, already e.g. Nixon et al. (1996) discussed the relations between P and N retention water depth and especially the mean residence time of water in the estuarine systems. The inverse correlation of P and N retention to the log scale of the ratio between the average depth and the residence time of the study areas was also indicated e.g. by the results from the Stockholm archipelago study by Almroth-Rosell et al. (2016).



Figure 8. Best linear 1:1 fit for area-specific retention efficiency R/A (% km⁻²) calculated from theoretical model (vertical axes) and compared to SCM model results (mean values for the period 1995-2014) from all sub basins along the Swedish coast (horizontal axes). Best fit

for nitrogen (left) was obtained with Vs(N)=4.96 m yr⁻¹. Best fit for phosphorus (right) was obtained with Vs(P)=6.45 m yr⁻¹.

Biogeochemical impact on nutrient retention

The biogeochemical impact on the internal losses is in the theory described by Vs. The average Vs for N and P for all sub-basins are 6.4 m yr^{-1} and 6.5 m yr^{-1} , respectively. This means e.g. that the amount of N and P removed every year by biogeochemical processes in a sub-basin corresponds to an average amount of nutrients in a water layer with a thickness of about 6.5 m. Actually, about 30% and 25% of the sub-basins has an apparent N and P removal, respectively, that annually exceeds the mean depth of the basin i.e. the ratio between Vs and the mean depth is larger than one (not shown). These sub-basins have on average a mean depth shallower than 6 m and in several of these basins the average amount of nutrients removed exceeds the standing stock several times. In these basins the import of nutrients from land, atmosphere or surrounding seas becomes relatively important. The spread of Vs values between the sub-basins of the SCM model is, however, large both for N and P (Figs 9 and 10). The large spread of Vs between different basins in Figs. 9 and 10 indicates that other parameters than mean depth, basin area and water residence time are important as well. The assumption of a steady state in Eq.1 may of course also have some impact on the results.

For the discussion we can mention results from the study by Wulff and Stigebrandt (1989) who estimated from budgets for the Baltic Sea in the period 1977-1981 that Vs for total P (N) varied from 5.6 (8.5) m yr⁻¹ in the Baltic proper, 5.7 (6.5) m yr⁻¹ in the Bothnian sea to 7.2 (2.0) m yr⁻¹ in the Bothnian Bay. The results are not directly comparable to the present study since their budget method implicitly included the temporal retention in the sediments while the present report is discussing only the permanent retention. Their budgets also included the open sea areas while the present study focuses only on the Swedish coastal zone.

Regional differences in nutrient retention

There are regional differences in the Vs with the largest spread between basins for both N and P found in water districts 1-4 in the northern parts of the Baltic Sea (Fig. 9 and Fig. 10). The mean Vs for P show decreasing values from north to south with a small increase on the Swedish West coast. Nitrogen in the Baltic Sea shows the largest mean Vs in water district 4 and 7 while the maximum average Vs value is found on the Swedish West coast.

The mean permanent area-specific retention efficiency of N and P supplied to the sub basins are about 0.9 % km⁻² and 1.0 % km⁻², respectively (Fig. 11 and 12). This means that approximately 1 % of the nitrogen and phosphorus supplied to a sub-basin from land, atmosphere and surrounding seas is removed per square kilometer of a sub basin area. However, one should note that there is a large impact on the mean values from outliers which is indicated by the differences between median and mean values in the figures. Hence there are sub-basins which differ much from the main part of the sub-basins that generally have lower retention and Vs values. Only about 13% of the N- and P-retention values are larger than the mean values (0.9 % km⁻² and 1.0 % km⁻²), respectively (not shown). The median retention efficiency of N and P supplies to the sub basins are about 0.06 % km⁻² and 0.05 % km⁻², respectively (Fig. 11 and 12). For P, the average retention efficiency is largest in the northern Baltic Sea (Fig. 11). The values decrease towards southern Baltic Sea and the smallest retention efficiency is found on the Swedish west Coast. This is largely also true for the median values, but these show a slight increase again in the southernmost and West coast

districts. For N (Fig. 12) the median values show only relatively small variations, compared to P, with the highest retention efficiency on the West coast. The impact from outliers causes a higher mean retention especially in the Baltic Sea but also on the west coast.



Figure 9. Apparent removal rate Vs (m yr⁻¹) for permanent removal of phosphorus in 653 subbasins of the SCM model (mean for period 1995-2014). The results are presented for eight different water districts shown in the inserted map. The number of sub-basins in each district is shown in the inserted table. Mean values are shown by black squares and black numbers while the median numbers are shown by red circles and numbers.



Figure 10. Similar as Fig. 9 but for nitrogen.



Figure 11. Area-specific phosphorus retention efficiency (R/A) (% km⁻²) of phosphorus in 653 sub-basins of the SCM model. The results are presented for eight different water districts (see Fig. 9). Mean values are shown by black squares and black numbers while the median numbers are shown by red circles and numbers. The mean and median values for all basins are shown in the upper right corner. Note the logarithmic scale on the vertical axes.



Figure 12. Similar as Fig. 11 but for nitrogen.

Theory related to monitoring

In order to relate the apparent removal rate to quantities related to monitoring we introduced Eq.6 which in combination with Eq.4 gives an estimation of the nutrient retention as a function of mean water depth, water residence time and the mean nutrient concentrations in the active sediment layer and in the water column. We also include information about the basin area when we calculate the area-specific retention efficiency R/A that becomes normalized per unit sediment area and therefore not dependent of the actual basin size. The results in Fig. 13 and Fig. 14 show that the correlation between the apparent removal rate theory and SCM model results improved (P_r²=0.78, N_r²=0.94) and reduce the spread from the linear trend which indicate that much of the variability in the model is captured by these factors. To some extent some outliers with very high area-specific retention efficiency increases the correlation. Therefore we also show the trend line and the corresponding correlation of the theoretical model is lower for nitrogen (R²=0.7) in sub-basins with lower area-specific retention is not changed as much.

The results indicate that the mean ratio of nutrients in the water and in the active layer of the sediment gives a signature for all the different biological, chemical and geological processes acting in each sub-basin. The theoretical study shows that we may get a first rough estimate of the area-specific nitrogen and phosphorus retention capacity in a sub-basin if we use mean water depth, water residence time, basin area and the mean nutrient concentrations in the active sediment layer and in the water column together with Eq.4 and Eq.6, where we set Blr(P)=0.04 yr⁻¹ and Blr(N)=0.4 yr⁻¹. When information about biogeochemical variables are missing we might potentially use only Eq.4 divided by the basin area to obtain the area-specific retention efficiency with Vs(N)=4.96 m yr⁻¹ and Vs(P)=6.45 m yr⁻¹ that then only depends on the physical conditions in the sub-basin.

The constants are of course depending on the SCM model that we used here. Further investigations can also give more information, e.g. about what are the characteristics of the sub-basins that are found to be outliers in the ensemble we have studied here. Future field campaigns could be planned based on the present theoretical pilot study to explore how standard monitoring programs could support studies of nutrient filtering in the shallow coastal regions of the Baltic Sea.



Figure 13. Best linear fit for area-specific phosphorus retention efficiency (R/A) calculated from theoretical model including information from the sediment and water column concentrations (Eq.4 and Eq.6 combined) and compared to SCM model results (R/A). Best fit for P on all data (653 sub basins) was obtained with $Blr(P)=0.04 \text{ yr}^{-1}$. The linear trend for a sub set (613 sub basins) of the data is shown by the red line and the red text.



Figure 14. Similar to Fig.13 but for N. Best fit for N was obtained with Blr(N)=0.4 yr⁻¹.

3.3 Other evaluations not shown

The results shown above are the best 1:1 fit we found for the theoretical description of retention related parameters relative to the model data. The relations between process rates and state variables related to retention are, however, complex. As an example we present how Brr is calculated in the SCM model in relation to the state of the bottom water and sediment concentrations.

The sources and sinks (S) for sediment phosphorus (PBT) and nitrogen (NBT) in SCM model are calculated from:

 $S_{NBT} = SINKI_{ORGN} - SEDOUT_{DIN} - DENIT_{NBT} - BURIAL_N$

SPBT=SINKIORGP-SEDOUTDIP-BURIALP

Here SEDOUT_{DIP}/PBT is corresponding to Brr for phosphorus while SEDOUT_{DIN}/NBT is corresponding to Brr for DIN (nitrate+ammonium), respectively. SINKI is the deposition of organic matter to the sediment, BURIAL is the permanent burial and DENIT the denitrification. As an example we show the formula (Eq. 12) for Brr for P as a function of salinity (SAL), temperature (T) and oxygen (O₂):

$$\frac{SEDOUT_{DIP}}{PBT} = 0.0005 \cdot \exp(0.15 \cdot T) \cdot \left(1.15 - \frac{1}{1 + 0.5 \cdot \exp(-1.5 \cdot (O_2 - 0.7)) - \frac{0.15}{1 + \left(\frac{5}{SAL}\right)^{20}}} \right) \quad (Eq \ 12)$$

For the present report we investigated (not shown) in several attempts different simple regressions first and then also the possibility to use the process formulations used in the model to find robust statistical relations between modelled process rates and retention R or Vs but the results were poor. One major problem seemed to be caused by finding relations between the sedimentation rates and state variables. As we see from the theory presented above and in the results section there are other factors than the biogeochemical process rates that also influence the state of a certain water body.

Eq.7 shown in methods is dependent on many local factors such as the supplies to the subbasin, the productivity and mineralization in the basin which depend on the temperature, salinity, oxygen and potentially other factors as well. The fact that the systems are dynamic and changing in time will also have some impact on Eq.7. Some of the rates in Eq.7 are measured momentarily at the BONUS COCOA study sites but the evaluation of the role of all potential drivers requires further research which is out of the scope of the present report and is therefore left for the future outlook.

3.4 The benthic primary production

One should note that the assimilation of nutrients taking place at the seafloor on illuminated sediments is not explicitly described in the SCM model. The SCM model does also not distinguish between different physical bottom types such as erosion, transport or

accumulation bottoms which is required for a good description of the benthic environment. This benthic production may be partly compensated for by the pelagic production and corresponding sedimentation taking place in the shallow areas of the model. The difference between the modelled organic matter depositions to the sediment to a case where the production could take place directly on the seafloor is uncertain. Pelagic nitrogen fixation is included in the SCM model but also evaluation of the importance of missing benthic nitrogen fixation needs further attention. Benthic micro algae do play an important role for total primary production capacity e.g. in the northern Baltic Sea (Ask et al. 2016). According to Sundbäck et al. (2004), microphytobenthic (MPB) nitrogen assimilation in littoral sediments often exceeds nitrogen removal by denitrification, partly because MPB activity suppresses denitrification. In quite many sub-basins light may reach the bottoms (Fig. 3) and benthic primary production may potentially dominate over the pelagic production. However, in order to fully evaluate and understand the relative role of benthic primary production is needed in the SCM.

4. Conclusions

We have made statistical analyses of observations from BONUS COCOA study sites together with results from the SCM model. We developed and evaluated a theory to relate process rates to monitoring data and nutrient retention.

The results showed that an experimentally determined multivariate data set from the shallow, illuminated stations was mainly found to be similar to the multivariate data set produced by the SCM model. The data from deeper depths from the Vistula Estuary was found to be similar to model data, while data from the Tvärminne site did in general not match well the model data from sub-basins within the same depth range likely because the model data included integrated characteristics for the entire water column and sediment area. The preliminary results showed that there are several individual sub-basins within the SCM model results that have characteristics similar to the BONUS COCOA study sites.

Generally no strong correlations of simple relations between observed denitrification and available structural variables were found for data collected from all the learning sites. We found some non-significant correlations between denitrification rates and bottom water DIP and DSi but the reason behind the correlations is not clear.

Mean denitrification rates from the SCM model basins were within the ranges of literature values and observations from BONUS COCOA study sites. An exception was the shallow areas of Roskilde Fjord and Puck Bay which showed quite high values when compared both to the SCM model results and also when compared with the other data sources. Anyway, we should not expect a perfect resemblance because the model output is an average daily rate for the entire area of each sub-basin while observations are made in specific points in the sub-basins of the BONUS COCOA study sites.

The theory of nutrient retention showed good correlations with model results. The spatial dimensions of a coastal area have large impact on the retention efficiency (Almroth-Rosell et al. 2016). This means that a large coastal basin or coastal area has more efficient nutrient retention than a small coastal area. In order to make the results independent of the size of a sub-basin we studied the area-specific retention efficiency (R/A). It was found that that we may get a first rough estimate of the area-specific nitrogen and phosphorus retention capacity in a sub-basin if we use mean water depth, water residence time, basin area and the mean nutrient concentrations in the active sediment layer and in the water column, together with Eq.4 and Eq.6, where we set Blr(P)= 0.04 yr^{-1} and Blr(N)= 0.4 yr^{-1} . It was found that the mean ratio of nutrients in the water and in the active layer of the sediment gives a signature for all the different biological, chemical and geological processes acting in each sub-basin. The derived constants depend on the SCM model but could be tested against other models and monitoring efforts. Exploration and addition of functions driving the benthic loss rates might improve the correlations further.

Since the characteristics of the SCM model results corresponded well with the observations from study sites we may expect the relations obtained from the SCM model and theory should be fairly well representative for large parts of the Baltic Sea. Further model development including e.g. effects of benthic primary production and nitrogen fixation can deepen the understanding of retention processes even more. The present study used 20-year mean concentrations and fluxes and further investigations are needed to find out how appropriate the theoretical formula is on shorter time scales including the importance of the seasonal variability in nutrient retention caused e.g. by seasonal changes in nutrient loads. The biggest challenge is likely to find measurements of total nitrogen and phosphorus concentrations in the active sediment layer (Eq.6) from the different regions where monitoring in the coastal

zone is lacking. Future research may for instance continue to search for potential variables that could be used as proxy for the ratio between mean sediment concentrations and mean water column concentrations. The present analysis serve as a good start to further investigate how to cluster sub-basins into areas with similar characteristics. This would support the design of future monitoring needed to map environmental changes in the Baltic Sea.

5. Acknowledgement

The research presented in this study is part of the BONUS project COCOA funded and implemented within the BONUS Viable Ecosystem projects (<u>http://www.bonusportal.org/bonus_projects/viable_ecosystem_projects</u>) which has received funding from BONUS, the joint Baltic Sea research and development programme (Art 185), funded jointly by the European Union's Seventh Framework Programme for research, technological development and demonstration and by the Swedish Research Council for Environment, Agricultural Sciences and Spatial Planning.

Additional financing has been received from the Swedish Agency for Marine and Water Management grant 1:12 Environmental management of marine and inland waters, tasks performed in accordance with regulation (204:660) regarding water quality considerations.

6. References

- Almroth-Rosell, E., M. Edman, K. Eilola, H.E.M. Meier, and J. Sahlberg, 2016. Modelling nutrient retention in the coastal zone of an eutrophic sea. Biogeosciences, 13, 5753–5769. doi:10.5194/bg-13-5753-2016.
- Ask, J., et al. 2016. Importance of coastal primary production in the northern Baltic Sea. Ambio 45: 635. doi:10.1007/s13280-016-0778-5.
- Asmala, E., J. Carstensen , D. J. Conley , C.P. Slomp , J. Stadmark , M. Voss, 2017. Efficiency of the coastal filter: Nitrogen and phosphorus removal in the Baltic Sea. Limnol. Oceanogr.. doi:10.1002/lno.10644.
- Deutsch, B., Forster, S., Wilhelm, M., Dippner, J., Voss, M., 2010. Denitrification in sediments as a major nitrogen sink in the Baltic Sea: an extrapolation using sediment characteristics. Biogeosciences 7, 3259-3271.
- Eilola, K., H.E.M. Meier and E. Almroth, 2009: On the dynamics of oxygen, phosphorus and cyanobacteria in the Baltic Sea; A model study. J. Mar. Sys., 75, pp. 163-184.
- Eilola, K., E. Almroth-Rosell, M. Edman, T. Eremina, J. Larsen, U. Janas, A. Razinkovas-Basiukas, K. Timmermann, L Tedesco, E. Voloshchuk, 2015. Model set-up at COCOA study sites. Report deliverable D.5 of BONUS project COCOA (http://cocoa.au.dk/).
 Rapport Oceanografi No. 117. SMHI Norrköping Sweden. http://www.smhi.se/publikationer/publikationer/model-set-up-at-cocoa-study-sites-1.88819.
- Engqvist, A., K., Döös, and O., Andrejev, 2006. Modeling water exchange and contaminant transport through a Baltic coastal region. AMBIO: A Journal of the Human Environment, 35(8), 435-447.
- Eriksson, L., E. Johansson, N. Kettaneh-Wold, J. Trygg, C. Wikström, and S. Wold (2006) Multi-and Megavariate Data Analysis. Part I Basic Principles and Applications. 2nd edition. Umetrics AB, Umeå.
- Nixon, S.W., Ammerman, J.W., Atkinson, L. P., Berounsky, V. M., Billen, G., Boicourt, W. C., Boynton, W. R., Church, T. M., Ditoro, D. M., Elmgren, R., Garber, J. H., Giblin, A. E., Jahnke, R. A., Owens, N. J. P., Pilson, M. E. Q., and Seitzinger, S. P.: The fate of nitrogen and phosphorus at the land-sea margin of the North Atlantic Ocean, in: Nitrogen Cycling in the North Atlantic Ocean and itsWatersheds, edited by: Howarth, R., Springer Netherlands, 1996.
- Piña-Ochoa, E., and M. Álvarez-Cobelas. 2006. Denitrification in aquatic environments: A cross-system analysis. Biogeochemistry 81: 111–130. doi:10.1007/s10533-006-9033-7
- Savchuk, O.P., Wulff, F., 2009. Long-term modeling of large-scale nutrient cycles in the entire Baltic Sea. Hydrobiologia, 629: 209-224.
- Savchuk, O. P., Gustafsson, B. G., & Müller-Karulis, B., 2012. BALTSEM–A Marine Model for Decision Support within the Baltic Sea Region. Baltic Nest Institute Technical Report, (7), 55. ISBN: 978-91-86655-06-8.
- Sundbäck, K., Linares, F., Larson, F., Wulff, A., & Engelsen, A., 2004. Benthic nitrogen fluxes along a depth gradient in a microtidal fjord: the role of denitrification and microphytobenthos. Limnology and Oceanography, 49(4), 1095-1107.
- Wulff, F., and A. Stigebrandt, 1989. A time-dependent budget model for nutrients in the Baltic Sea. Global Biogeochem. Cycles, Vol. 3, No.1, 63-78.

7. Appendix

Some model characteristics

As supplement we also show few examples of basic information related to the general characteristics of the SCM model. The model is described in more detail in D5.1 (Eilola et al. 2015) and in the paper by Almroth-Rosell et al. (2016). Some of the information is repeated below.

The SCM couples a 1-dimensional physical model to the biogeochemical model SCOBI (The Swedish Coastal and Ocean Biogeochemical model). In order to include horizontal variations in a larger region the area is divided into several dynamically interconnected sub-basins. The sub-basins are identical to the defined national water bodies according to the Water Framework Directive (WFD). Each sub-basin is described by the hypsographical curve and may exchange water and properties with other sub-basins through connecting sounds. The geometry of each sound is extracted from digital sea charts and the cross sectional area and the maximum depths are then manually compared and verified against ordinary sea charts.



Figure A1. Components of the SCOBI model. The process descriptions of oxygen and hydrogen sulfide are simplified for clarity.

The SCOBI model (Fig. A1) describes the dynamics of nitrate, ammonium, phosphate, phytoplankton, zooplankton, detritus, and oxygen. Hydrogen sulfide concentrations are represented by "negative oxygen" equivalents (1 ml H₂S $I^{-1} = -2$ ml O₂ I^{-1}). Phytoplankton consists of three algal groups representing diatoms, flagellates and others, and cyanobacteria (corresponding to large, small and nitrogen fixing cells). Processes like assimilation,

remineralisation, nitrogen fixation, nitrification, denitrification, grazing, mortality, excretion, sedimentation and burial are considered. The production of phytoplankton assimilates carbon (C), nitrogen (N) and phosphorus (P) according to the Redfield molar ratio (C:N:P=106:16:1) and the biomass is represented by chlorophyll (Chl) according to a constant carbon to chlorophyll ratio C:Chl=50. The carbon cycle is, however, not explicitly modelled. The molar ratio of a complete oxidation of the remineralised nutrients is O₂:P=138:1. The sediment processes include oxygen dependent nutrient remineralization and denitrification as well as burial of nutrients. Burial of nitrogen and phosphorus in the sediment and denitrification are the permanent nutrient sinks in the model. Light attenuation depends on background attenuation due to water and humic substances and a variable attenuation caused by the organic matter (phytoplankton and detritus) handled by the SCOBI model. Sediment resuspension is not active in the present set-up of the SCM.

The residence times of all sub-basins of the SCM model together with the mean sediment nitrogen concentrations in the corresponding sub basins are shown in Fig. A2. The mean depth vary between 0.7m and 77m with an average of 11m and the residence time vary between 0.2 days and 495 days with an average of 14 days. The mean sediment N-concentration in the sub-basins vary between 4 mmol N m⁻² and 342 mmol N m⁻² with an average of 32 mmol N m⁻². The mean sediment N-concentrations increase with mean water depth up to about 40m-50m. But there is a large spread in mean concentrations especially in areas shallower than 30m in the model. The concentrations are similar for deeper basins but only a few sub-basins have mean depth larger than 50m.





Figure A2. The relation between mean depth and IAVA residence time (days) in the 653 subbasins of the SCM model is shown in the upper plot. The relation between sediment nitrogen concentrations (mmol N m^{-2}) and mean depth is shown in the lower plot.

SMHI Publications

SMHI publish seven report series. Three of these, the R-series, are intended for international readers and are in most cases written in English. For the others the Swedish language is used.

Name of the series

RMK (Report Meteorology and Climatology) RH (Report Hydrology) RO (Report Oceanography) METEOROLOGI HYDROLOGI OCEANOGRAFI KLIMATOLOGI

Earlier issues published in RO

- Lars Gidhagen, Lennart Funkquist and Ray Murthy (1986)
 Calculations of horizontal exchange coefficients using Eulerian time series current meter data from the Baltic Sea.
- 2 Thomas Thompson (1986) Ymer-80, satellites, arctic sea ice and weather
- Stig Carlberg et al (1986)
 Program för miljökvalitetsövervakning PMK.
- Jan-Erik Lundqvist och Anders Omstedt (1987)
 Isförhållandena i Sveriges södra och västra farvatten.
- Stig Carlberg, Sven Engström, Stig Fonselius, Håkan Palmén, Eva-Gun Thelén, Lotta Fyrberg och Bengt Yhlen (1987)
 Program för miljökvalitetsövervakning -PMK. Utsjöprogram under 1986
- Jorge C. Valderama (1987) Results of a five year survey of the distribution of UREA in the Baltic Sea.
- Stig Carlberg, Sven Engström, Stig Fonselius, Håkan Palmén, Eva-Gun Thelén, Lotta Fyrberg, Bengt Yhlén och Danuta Zagradkin (1988).
 Program för miljökvalitetsövervakning -PMK. Utsjöprogram under 1987
- 8 Bertil Håkansson (1988)
 Ice reconnaissance and forecasts in Storfjorden, Svalbard.

9 Stig Carlberg, Sven Engström, Stig Fonselius, Håkan Palmén, Eva-Gun Thelén, Lotta Fyrberg, Bengt Yhlén, Danuta Zagradkin, Bo Juhlin och Jan Szaron (1989) Program för miljökvalitetsövervakning -PMK. Utsjöprogram under 1988.

Published since

1974 1990

1986

1985

1985

1985

2009

- L. Fransson, B. Håkansson, A. Omstedt och L. Stehn (1989)
 Sea ice properties studied from the icebreaker Tor during BEPERS-88.
- Stig Carlberg, Sven Engström, Stig Fonselius, Håkan Palmén, Lotta Fyrberg, Bengt Yhlen, Bo Juhlin och Jan Szaron (1990)
 Program för miljökvalitetsövervakning -PMK. Utsjöprogram under 1989
- 12 Anders Omstedt (1990) Real-time modelling and forecasting of temperatures in the Baltic Sea
- 13 Lars Andersson, Stig Carlberg, Elisabet Fogelqvist, Stig Fonselius, Håkan Palmén, Eva-Gun Thelén, Lotta Fyrberg, Bengt Yhlén och Danuta Zagradkin (1991) Program för miljökvalitetsövervakning – PMK. Utsjöprogram under 1989.
- Lars Andersson, Stig Carlberg, Lars Edler, Elisabet Fogelqvist, Stig Fonselius, Lotta Fyrberg, Marie Larsson, Håkan Palmén, Björn Sjöberg, Danuta Zagradkin, och Bengt Yhlén (1992) Haven runt Sverige 1991. Rapport från SMHI, Oceanografiska Laboratoriet, inklusive PMK - utsjöprogrammet. (The conditions of the seas around Sweden. Report from the activities in 1991, including PMK - The National Swedish Programme for Monitoring of Environmental Quality Open Sea Programme.)

- Ray Murthy, Bertil Håkansson and Pekka Alenius (ed.) (1993)
 The Gulf of Bothnia Year-1991 - Physical transport experiments
- Lars Andersson, Lars Edler and Björn Sjöberg (1993)
 The conditions of the seas around Sweden Report from activities in 1992
- Anders Omstedt, Leif Nyberg and Matti Leppäranta (1994)
 A coupled ice-ocean model supporting winter navigation in the Baltic Sea Part 1 Ice dynamics and water levels.
- 18 Lennart Funkquist (1993) An operational Baltic Sea circulation model Part 1. Barotropic version
- 19 Eleonor Marmefelt (1994) Currents in the Gulf of Bothnia during the Field Year of 1991
- Lars Andersson, Björn Sjöberg and Mikael Krysell (1994)
 The conditions of the seas around Sweden Report from the activities in 1993
- 21 Anders Omstedt and Leif Nyberg (1995) A coupled ice-ocean model supporting winter navigation in the Baltic Sea Part 2 Thermodynamics and meteorological coupling
- 22 Lennart Funkquist and Eckhard Kleine (1995)Application of the BSH model to Kattegat and Skagerrak.
- 23 Tarmo Köuts and Bertil Håkansson (1995) Observations of water exchange, currents, sea levels and nutrients in the Gulf of Riga.
- 24 Urban Svensson (1998) PROBE An Instruction Manual.
- Maria Lundin (1999) Time Series Analysis of SAR Sea Ice Backscatter Variability and its Dependence on Weather Conditions

- Markus Meier¹, Ralf Döscher¹, Andrew, C. Coward², Jonas Nycander³ and Kristofer Döös³ (1999)¹ Rossby Centre, SMHI² James Rennell Division, Southampton Oceanography Centre, ³ Department of Meteorology, Stockholm University RCO Rossby Centre regional Ocean climate model: model description (version 1.0) and first results from the hindcast period 1992/93
- 27 H. E. Markus Meier (1999) First results of multi-year simulations using a 3D Baltic Sea model
- 28 H. E. Markus Meier (2000) The use of the $k - \varepsilon$ turbulence model within the Rossby Centre regional ocean climate model: parameterization development and results.
- 29 Eleonor Marmefelt, Bertil Håkansson, Anders Christian Erichsen and Ian Sehested Hansen (2000) Development of an Ecological Model System for the Kattegat and the Southern Baltic. Final Report to the Nordic Councils of Ministers.
- H.E Markus Meier and Frank Kauker (2002).
 Simulating Baltic Sea climate for the period 1902-1998 with the Rossby Centre coupled ice-ocean model.
- Bertil Håkansson (2003)
 Swedish National Report on
 Eutrophication Status in the Kattegat and
 the Skagerrak OSPAR ASSESSMENT
 2002
- 32 Bengt Karlson & Lars Andersson (2003) The Chattonella-bloom in year 2001 and effects of high freshwater input from river Göta Älv to the Kattegat-Skagerrak area
- 33 Philip Axe and Helma Lindow (2005) Hydrographic Conditions around Offshore Banks
- Pia M Andersson, Lars S Andersson (2006)
 Long term trends in the seas surrounding Sweden. Part one - Nutrients

- Bengt Karlson, Ann-Sofi Rehnstam-Holm & Lars-Ove Loo (2007) Temporal and spatial distribution of diarrhetic shellfish toxins in blue mussels, Mytilus edulis (L.), at the Swedish West Coast, NE Atlantic, years 1988-2005
- Bertil Håkansson Co-authors: Odd Lindahl, Rutger Rosenberg, Pilip Axe, Kari Eilola, Bengt Karlson (2007) Swedish National Report on Eutrophication Status in the Kattegat and the Skagerrak OSPAR ASSESSMENT 2007
- 37 Lennart Funkquist and Eckhard Kleine (2007) An introduction to HIROMB, an operational baroclinic model for the Baltic Sea
- Philip Axe (2008) Temporal and spatial monitoring of eutrophication variables in CEMP
- Bengt Karlson, Philip Axe, Lennart Funkquist, Seppo Kaitala, Kai Sørensen (2009)
 Infrastructure for marine monitoring and operational oceanography
- Marie Johansen, Pia Andersson (2010)
 Long term trends in the seas surrounding Sweden
 Part two – Pelagic biology
- 41 Philip Axe, (2012) Oceanographic Applications of Coastal Radar
- 42 Martin Hansson, Lars Andersson, Philip Axe (2011) Areal Extent and Volume of Anoxia and Hypoxia in the Baltic Sea, 1960-2011
- Philip Axe, Karin Wesslander, Johan Kronsell (2012)
 Confidence rating for OSPAR COMP
- Germo Väli, H.E. Markus Meier, Jüri Elken (2012)
 Simulated variations of the Baltic Sea halocline during 1961-2007

- 45 Lars Axell (2013) BSRA-15: A Baltic Sea Reanalysis 1990-2004
- Martin Hansson, Lars Andersson, Philip Axe, Jan Szaron (2013)
 Oxygen Survey in the Baltic Sea 2012 -Extent of Anoxia and Hypoxia, 1960 -2012
- C. Dieterich, S. Schimanke, S. Wang, G. Väli, Y. Liu, R. Hordoir, L. Axell, A. Höglund, H.E.M. Meier (2013) Evaluation of the SMHI coupled atmosphere-ice-ocean model RCA4-NEMO
- R. Hordoir, B. W. An, J. Haapala, C. Dieterich, S. Schimanke, A. Höglund and H.E.M. Meier (2013)
 BaltiX V 1.1 : A 3D Ocean Modelling Configuration for Baltic & North Sea Exchange Analysis
- Martin Hansson & Lars Andersson (2013)
 Oxygen Survey in the Baltic Sea 2013 Extent of Anoxia and Hypoxia 1960-2013
- 50 Martin Hansson & Lars Andersson (2014) Oxygen Survey in the Baltic Sea 2014 -Extent of Anoxia and Hypoxia 1960-2014
- 51 Karin Wesslander (2015) Coastal eutrophication status assessment using HEAT 1.0 (WFD methodology) versus HEAT 3.0 (MSFD methodology) and Development of an oxygen consumption indicator
- 52 Örjan Bäck och Magnus Wenzer (2015) Mapping winter nutrient concentrations in the OSPAR maritime area using Diva
- Martin Hansson & Lars Andersson (2015)
 Oxygen Survey in the Baltic Sea 2015 Extent of Anoxia and Hypoxia 1960-2015
 & The major inflow in December 2014
- 54 Karin Wesslander (2016)
 Swedish National Report on
 Eutrophication Status in the Skagerrak,
 Kattegat and the Sound OSPAR
 ASSESSMENT 2016

- 55 Iréne Wåhlström, Kari Eilola, Moa Edman, Elin Almroth-Rosell (2016) Evaluation of open sea boundary conditions for the coastal zone. A model study in the northern part of the Baltic Proper.
- 56 Christian Dieterich, Magnus Hieronymus, Helén Andersson (2016) Extreme Sea Levels in the Baltic Sea, Kattegat and Skagerrak under Climate Change Scenarios (Ej publicerad)
- 57 Del A: Jens Fölster (SLU), Stina Drakare (SLU), Lars Sonesten (SLU)
 Del B: Karin Wesslander (SMHI), Lena
 Viktorsson (SMHI), Örjan Bäck (SMHI), Martin Hansson (SMHI), Ann-Turi
 Skjevik (SMHI) (2017)
 Förslag till plan för revidering av fysikalisk-kemiska bedömningsgrunder för ekologisk status i sjöar, vattendrag och kust. Del A: SJÖAR OCH
 VATTENDRAG (SLU)
 Del B: KUSTVATTEN (SMHI)
- Martin Hansson, Lars Andersson (2016)
 Oxygen Survey in the Baltic Sea 2016 Extent of Anoxia and Hypoxia 1960-2016
- 59 Naturtypsbestämning av miljöövervakningsstationer SMHI pelagial miljöövervakning (2017) Andersson Pia, Hansson Martin, Bjurström Joel, Simonsson Daniel
- 60 Summary of the Swedish National Marine Monitoring 2016. Hydrography, nutrients and phytoplankton (2017) Karin Wesslander, Lena Viktorsson



Swedish Meteorological and Hydrological Institute SE 601 76 NORRKÖPING Phone +46 11-495 80 00 Telefax +46 11-495 80 01